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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

MICHELLE BOYNE,
Plaintiff
V.

TOWN AND COUNTRY PEDIATRICS No.3:15-cv-1455MPS)
AND FAMILY MEDICINE, :

Defendant.

RULING ONMOTIONTO DISMISS

Plaintiff Michelle Boyne filed a two-courecond Amended Complaint against her former
employer, Town and Country Pediatrics and Famigdicine, alleging violations of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200@#,seq(Count One) and Title 1l of the Americans with
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 81210&t seq(“ADA”) (Count Two). Defendant moves to dismiss
Plaintiffs Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”). (EQ¥®. 28.) For the reasons stated below, the
Court DENIES Defendant’s Motioilw Dismiss. (ECF No. 31.)

l. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

The following factual allegatins are taken from the SAElaintiff is a resident of the City
of Bristol, Connecticut. (SAC, ECF No. 28 1 Defendant is a Connecticut corporation that
administers medical servicedd.(at 1 3.) Plaintiff began her enogiment with Defendant as a full
time medical assistaim November 2010.Iq. at 1 6.) She was initially employed through Jackie
Matchett Personnel Service, and was officially hired by Defendant on March 14, 2014t /(6-

7.)
In December 2011, Plaintiff had pregnancynpdications and was placed on light work

duty. (d. at 1 8.) At thattime, she was diagnosetth HELLP Syndrome, “a life-threatening
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pregnancy condition and disabilityathis a permanent diagnosisfd.(at 1 9.) Due to HELLP
Syndrome, during pregnancy the Plaintiff suffecen severe abdominal pain, a swollen liver,
headaches, tiredness, nausea, and ulcktsat(f 11.) In December 2011, the Plaintiff informed
the Defendant about her diagnosis with HEL&yhdrome and how it would affect her pregnancy
and future pregnanciesld(at  12.) On December 31, 2011, Riaintiff gave birth to a severely
premature son due to HELLP Syndromdl. &t § 13.) Her son did not survive birthd. (@t 1 14.)
Plaintiff returned to work and was placed on Hligluty work with intermittent leave,” which the
Defendant accommodatedd.(at § 15-16.) Plaintiff was able perform the esseat functions of
her job while on light duty. Id. at §17.)

Plaintiff discovered that she wasegnant again in September 2018l1. &t § 18.) She was
“nervous” to tell Defendant because of her ongdiltd.LP Syndrome, and she feared that missing
work could result in losing her jobld( at  19.) She informed Defendant of her pregnancy in
January 2014.1d. at  20.) As of January 2014, Pl#@mnivas working 39.5 hours per week for the
Defendant. If. at § 21.) 26 of those hours were sygmarforming receptionist duties and 13.5 were
spent performing medical assistant dutidd. dt | 22.)

On January 31, 2014, Plaintiff had to leave waduke to severe stomach pains related to her
pregnancy. Ifl. at  23.) Her obstetrician and gynexpst (“OBGYN”) excused her from work
from January 31 to February 5, 2014, due tdica issues from her pregnancy and HELLP
Syndrome. I@. at  23-24.) Plaintiff's OBYN also required her to be on light duty for the
remainder of her pregnancy, meaning that slddoaot bend or lift anything because it would
aggravate her liver function and cause her pduoh.a I 25, 27.) She called Malkie Scher
(“Scher”), the Defendant’s office managtr,inform her of these restrictionsld(at 1 26.)

Plaintiffs OBGYN providal Defendant with out of work notesd light duty restrictions.Id. at



28.) Plaintiff was able to perform the essentialctions of her job while on light duty and with a
reasonable accommodationd.(at 1 30.)

On February 4, 2014, Plaintiff received a cadinfr Scher who told her that Dr. Ephraim P.
Bartfeld, a doctor for the Defendant, would notalBlaintiff to return to work until her light duty
restrictions were lifted. Id. at § 29.) Plaintiff requested thgtie be allowed to work the 26 hours
per week of her schedule asegeptionist, as that did not requany bending or lifting. Id. at
31.) Her request was denied, and Defendant didlfmt her to return tevork at all, because
Scher stated that the Defendditt not want to “risk it.” [d. at § 33-34.)

On March 10, 2014, Plaintiff gave birth to a&prature daughter, who contracted necrotizing
enterocolitis (“NEC”) and passed away on March 27, 201di.af § 35-36.) On April 18, 2014,
Plaintiff's OBGYN released her back to work witke same light duty restrictions of no bending or
lifting because of herecovery from HELLP Syndromeld( at { 37.) At thatime, Plaintiff asked
Scher if she could return to woflr the 26 hours a week that shel lpgerformed receptionist duties.
(Id. at  38-40.) Her request wagain denied, and Scher informintiff that Defendant had
hired a new receptionistld( at 1 42.)

Throughout April and May of 2014 aintiff remained in comtct with Scher about her
employment status.ld. at  43.) On June 12, 2014, Plaingént Scher a text message informing
her that Plaintiff's OBGYN would lift her light dutsestrictions on July 7, 2014, and that she could
return to work on that dateld( at § 44.) When Scher did maispond to the message, Plaintiff
contacted Scher again on June 13 and Jun201@, to ask about her employment statud. af
46.) On June 17, 2014, after Scher failed spoad, Plaintiff contacte@abrielle Ministro
(“Ministro”), an employee of Defendant, informed tBtro of her anticipated return to work date,
and told her that Scher had not respondédl. af  48.) Ministro toldhe Plaintiff that she would

inform the Defendant.Iq. at § 49.) When Plaintiff contat Ministro again on June 18, 2014, she



was told that Dr. Bartfeld was handling her employmeldt. at 9 50.) Plainti then contacted Dr.
Bartfeld that same dayld( at § 51.) Dr. Bartfeld informe@laintiff that Defendant had filled her
position. (d. at § 52.) He asked her to call back on June 20, 20d4at(f 52.) Plaintiff called
back on June 20, 2014, and Dr. Bartfeld asked hgroade a doctor’s notelearing her to return
to her regular duties.Id. at § 53.) He also informed hixat the only hours Defendant could
provide her were on Sundays, meaning that Bitsnhours would decreasieom 39.5 hours to six
or seven hours a weekld(at 1 54.) On June 30, 2014, Pldineceived a lettefrom Defendant
stating that her employment with Defendant was terminatedat(f 55.) Defendant has hired two
new receptionists and a nemedical assistant.Id. at § 56.)

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed an administrative compldimith the Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities (“CHRO”) and Equal Employmedpportunity Commission (“EEOC”) on July 18,
2014. (d. at §5.) Plaintiff received a DismissaldaNotice of Rights letter dated August 17, 2015.
(Id.) Plaintiff filed her original cenplaint on October 5, 2015. (E@Q¥®. 1.) On January 13, 2016,
Defendant filed a Motion for a Mor@efinite Statement. (ECNo. 19.) The Court granted the
motion and ordered the Plaintiff to “submit anearded complaint that sets forth clearly which
causes of action she seeks to pleg@&CF No. 20.) Plaintiff fild an amended complaint (ECF No.
21), and Defendant filed a Motida Dismiss under Rules 12(b)(@nd 12(b)(6) of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. (ECFdN22.) Thereafter, the Court gaRintiff an opportunity to file
an amended complaint “to address the allegéectiediscussed in Defendants’ memorandum of

law” (ECF No. 24), and she did so on Mart0, 2016. (SAC, ECF No. 28.) On March 24, 2016, the



Defendant renewed its motion to dismiss the $%@ incorporated by reference its prior btief.
(ECF No. 23.)
1. STANDARD

Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the Court mdstermine whether the Plaintiff has alleged
“enough facts to state a claim to rélieat is plausible on its faceBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550
U.S. 544, 570. Undéfrwombly the Court accepts as true alltbé complaint’s factual allegations
when evaluating a motion to dismisd. at 572. The Court must “draa¥l reasonable inferences in
favor of the non-moving partyVietnam Ass’n for Victims of Agent Orange v. Dow Chem.514.
F.3d 104, 115 (2d Cir. 2008). “When a complaint isdahsolely on wholly conclusory allegations
and provides no factual support for such claimis, @ppropriate to grant defendants[’] motion to
dismiss.”Scott v. Town of Monre&06 F. Supp. 2d 191, 198 (D. Conn. 2004). For a complaint to
survive a motion to dismiss, “[a]fter the court strips away conclusory allegations, there must remain
sufficient well-pleaded factuallegations to nudge plaintiff's claims across the line from
conceivable to plausiblelih re Fosamax Products Liab. Litigg010 WL 1654156, at *1 (S.D.N.Y.
Apr. 9, 2010). In other words “a plaintiff must pleadtual content thatlaws the court to draw
the reasonable inference that the defendalieble for the misconduct allegedvVega v.
Hempstead Union Free Sch. Di€Q1 F.3d 72, 86 (2d Cir. 2016hternal quotation marks and
citation omitted).

To survive a motion to dismiss in a discrintina case, “a plaintiff must allege that the
employer took adverse action againet at least in part for a disminatory reason, and she may do

so by alleging facts that directbhow discrimination or facts thatdirectly show discrimination by

! Defendant only incorporated “certain of its argumsé from its original motion to dismiss in its
second motion to dismiss. (ECF No. 31, p.Pherefore, the Coudnly addresses the two
arguments raised in Defendant’s second motind,deems the other arguments in its original
motion abandoned.



giving rise to a plausible farence of discrimination.'Vega v. Hempstead Union Free Sch. Dist.
801 F.3d 72, 87 (2d Cir. 2015). “[W]hile a digamation complaint need not allege facts
establishing each element of a prima facie casksofimination to survive a motion to dismiss, it
must at a minimum assert nonconclusory factuatanaufficient to nudge itslaims across the line
from conceivable to plausible to proceedt’E.O.C. v. Port Auth. of N.Y. & New Jerség§8 F.3d
247, 254 (2d Cir. 2014p(oting Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.B34 U.S. 506, 515, 122 S.Ct. 992,
152 L.Ed.2d 1 (2002Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2008)shcroft v. Igbal556
U.S. 662, 669-70, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2@0®¢ynal quotation marks and citations
omitted);see also/egag 801 F.3d at 83 (holding that whilEEOC v. Port Authorityvas an Equal
Pay Act case and not a Title VII case”higlding applied to Title VII cases).

1. DISCUSSION

A. Pregnancy Discrimination (Count One)

Plaintiff claims in Count One of the SACathDefendant discriminated against her in
violation of Title VII of the Civl Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200@#,seq. “[T]he Pregnancy
Discrimination Act clarified that discriminatidon the basis of sex’ includes discrimination
‘because of or on the basis of pregnancy, tinild, or related medical conditions; and women
affected by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medocadditions shall be treated the same for all
employment-related purposes ... as other persorsoraffected but simiftan their ability or
inability to work.” ” Barrett v. Forest Labs., Inc39 F. Supp. 3d 407, 447 (S.D.N.Y. 2014)
(quoting42 U.S.C. § 2000e(k)).

Defendant moves to dismiss Count On¢hef Second Amended Complaint, arguing that
Plaintiff has failed to plead a prima facie caspragnancy discriminationin particular, Defendant
argues that Plaintiff has failed $atisfy the fourth element of hprima facie case because she has

not identified any similarly situateginployees who were treated diéfatly from her. As noted



above, “a discrimination complaint need not alléggs establishing eacheshent of a prima facie
case of discrimination to survive a motion to dismig3drt Auth. of N.Y. & New Jersey68 F.3d

at 254. “A plaintiff can establish a prima fac&se of pregnancy discrimination under Title VII by
showing that: (1) she is a memludra protected class; (2) shkatisfactorily performed the duties
required by the position; (3) she was disckdrgand (4) her positioremained open and was
ultimately filled by a non-pregnant employee. Afigtively, a plaintiff may establish the fourth
element of rima faciecase by demonstrating that the disgeaoccurred in circumstances giving
rise to an inference of unlawful discriminatiorKerzer v. Kingly Mfg.156 F.3d 396, 401 (2d Cir.
1998). “The discrimination complaint . . . musti@wed in light of theplaintiff's minimal burden
to show discriminatory intent.Littlejohn v. City of N.Y.795 F.3d 297, 311 (2d Cir. 2015)

The Plaintiff’s allegations $&fy her “minimal” burden anglead enough facts to suggest
that “the discharge occurred in circumstangegng rise to an inference of unlawful
discrimination.” Kerzer,156 F.3d at 401. While one way to ddish the fourth element of the
prima facie claim is to allege that “the emplogé&t accommodate others slar in their ability or
inability to work,” that is not the only wato raise an inference of discriminatiofioung v. UPS,
Inc., 575 U.S. --, 135 S. Ct. 1338, 1354 (2015). “penal proximity between the plaintiff's
termination and her pregnancy, childbirth, or tedamedical condition caraise an inference of
discrimination” as well.Briggs v. Women in Need, In819 F. Supp. 2d 119, 128-29 (E.D.N.Y.
2011);see also Flores v. Buy Buy Baby, |ridl8 F. Supp. 2d 425, 430-31 (S.D.N.Y. 2000)
(finding “[t]he temporal proximity of these emts is adequate taise an inference of
discrimination” when plaintiff told her employer “November or December” of her pregnancy and
plan to take maternity leave@was fired in “late DecemberPellegrino v. Cty. of Orange13 F.
Supp. 2d 303, 315 (S.D.N.Y. 2004Evidence of temporal proximity between an employee’s

request for maternity leave and her terminatsosufficient to establish an inference of



discrimination.”);see also El Sayed v. Hilton Hotels Cog27 F.3d 931, 933 (2d Cir. 2010) (“The
temporal proximity of events may give riseao inference of retalin for the purposes of
establishing a prima facie caserefaliation undefitle VII.”); Govori v. Goat Fifty, L.L.G.519 F.
App'x 732, 734 (2d Cir. 2013( Sayets “reasoning is equally applicable” in the Title VII
pregnancy discrimination context).

Plaintiff’'s complaint alleges a close temabproximity between her pregnancy and the
denial of her request to continlight duty restrictions and ultinb@ly her termination. Plaintiff
alleges that she was excused from work foreakwy her doctor due to complications from her
high risk pregnancy, and was then told she caoldeturn to work fothe remainder of her
pregnancy because Defendant did not want to ftiSKECF No. 28 at § 34.) Plaintiff asked to
work the twenty-six hours a week of her scheghddorming receptionist duties, which were within
her work restrictions set by her doctor, and wasete After her maternity leave ended in April,
Plaintiff again asked to return to work with ligthtity restrictions, and vgaagain denied, and told
that Defendant had hired a new nattenist. She stayed in contagith Defendant’s office manager
throughout April and May about hemployment status. Omide 12, 2014, she told the office
manager that her light duty restrictions wouldified on July 7, 2014, anddhshe would return to
work on July 7. She did not receive a respor@e.June 18, 2014, she was told that her position
has been filled, and on June 20, 2014, Plaintiff was told that Defendanoff@uldnly six to seven
hours per week. On June 30, 2014, Plaintiff receaskdter from Defendamtotifying her that her
employment with the company was terminated. riéifaialleges that she peatedly requested to
work her hours performing receptionist duties, as she had been doing before her pregnancy, as an
accommodation due to her high-risk pregnamnegdically complicated birth, and continuing

medical issues due to HELLP Syndrome. Shat keclose contact with the office manager



throughout her pregnancy and matty leave, and her requests a reasonable accommodation
were repeatedly denied.

Plaintiff also makes other allegations in kemplaint and her CHRO complaint that give
rise to an inference of discrimination. She gdig that there were twather women in the office
who were pregnant at the same time, andDed¢ndant did not allow her to work light duty
because of the “high amount of pregnancigh@office,” suggesting that her pregnancy
contributed to the Defendantiecision. (ECF No. 35-2 at 5-6.Furthermore, plaintiff alleges that
the Defendant hired two new receptionesswell as a medical assistand. @t 7.) While Plaintiff
does not allege that the new employees who filledposition were not pregnant, these allegations
are enough to permit an inference of discrimorabn the basis of her pregnancy and the related
medical condition.See Dollman v. Mast Indus., IN¢31 F. Supp. 2d 328, 339 (S.D.N.Y. 2010)
(holding that the plaintiff had ised an inference of unlawful discrimination even though she did
not “specifically identify a non-pregnant replacermeho filled her position.”). Because Plaintiff
has met her “minimal” burden of alleging sufficieatfs to raise an inferea of discrimination, the
Defendant’s Motion to Dismms Count One is DENIED.

B. Disability Discrimination and Failureto Accommodate (Count Two)

Defendant moves to dismiss Count Twdle Amended Complaint on the ground that
Plaintiff failed to exhaust her administrative rengsdas to her disabilityiscrimination claim.

“ADA Title | incorporates various provisions frofitle VIl of the landnark Civil Rights Act of
1964. One of these provisions, sestD00e-5, requires a claimant ile s charge of employment
discrimination with the EEOC within 180 ykaafter the discriminatory actMclnerney v.

Rensselaer Polytechnic Inss0Q5 F.3d 135, 138 (2d Cir. 2007). While the ADA does impose an

2 Because the CHRO complaint is incorporateddfgrence in the SAC (ECF No. 28 at { 5), the
Court may consider it on a motion to dismi€hambers v. Time Warner, In@82 F. 3d 147, 152
(2d. Cir. 2002).



exhaustion requirement on plaintiffa federal court may entertaanclaim not alleged in an EEOC
charge if it is reasonably relatedthe allegations in the EEOC chargé.aCoparra v. Pergament
Home Centers, Inc982 F. Supp. 213, 226 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) émal citations and quotation marks
omitted). The Second Circuit detailed wisatonsidered “reasonably related’Williams v. N.Y.
City Hous. Auth.

This Circuit has recognizeatiat “[a] claim is consided reasonably related if the

conduct complained of would fall withinghscope of the EEOC investigation which

can reasonably be expected to gt of the charge that was madEitzgerald v.

Henderson251 F.3d 345, 359-60 (2d Cir.2001) (im&rquotation marks omitted).

In this inquiry, “the focus should be ‘onetltiactual allegations made in the [EEOC]

charge itself, describing the discrimingt@onduct about which a plaintiff is

grieving.” ” Deravin v. Kerik,335 F.3d 195, 201 (2d Cir.2003) (quotifgegeman v.

Oakland Unified Sch. Dist291 F.3d 632, 637 (9th Cir.2002)). The central question

is whether the complaint filed with the EE@ave that agency “adequate notice to

investigate discrimination on both basdsd.’at 202. The “reasonably related”

exception to the exhaustion requiremehs ‘essentially an allowance of loose

pleading’ and is based oretlhecognition that ‘EEOC chges frequently are filled

out by employees without the benefit of coeirend that their primary purpose is to

alert the EEOC to the discrimination tlzaplaintiff claims [le] is suffering.” ”Id. at

201 (quotingButts,990 F.2d at 1402) (altation in original).

458 F.3d 67, 70 (2d Cir. 2006) (footnote omitted).

Plaintiff filed her complaint with the CHROn July 18, 2014. On the cover sheet of her
CHRO complaint, Plaintiff marked the boxes “sefemale” and “pregnancy” as “factor/factors in
this action.” She argues thaieshas exhausted her administratremedies because her ADA claim
is reasonably related to her claim under the argy Discrimination Act.Defendant argues that
the claim is not reasonably reldtbecause it did not give the CHR&dequate notice to investigate
discrimination on both basedWilliams 458 F.3d at 70. The Defendant argues that the CHRO did
not have adequate notice because the complag¥ not use the word “disability” or mention a
medical condition outside die pregnancy itself.

While this is a “close call,” the Court finds that the CHRO complaint is worded in a way that

makes the ADA claim reasonably relatedtie pregnancy disitcnination claim. LaCoparra v.

10



Pergament Home Centers, In@82 F. Supp. 213, 226 (S.D.N.Y. 1997). Plaintiffs CHRO
complaint mentions a serious medical conditimamely HELLP Syndrome. (Exh. B, ECF No. 35-
2,5.) It also details herd-risk pregnancy and lengthycovery process due to HELLP
Syndrome. I.) The CHRO complaint clearly articulatéhat Plaintiff suffeed from a medical
condition aside from her pregnancy, even if it does not use the term “disabilitglso clearly
alleges that Plaintiff sufferefdlom this condition starting iDecember of 2011. Given this
background, the CHRO coutdasonably infer that heondition persisted in her second pregnancy.
(Id.) Plaintiff also alleges that there were a thgmount of pregnancies in the office” at the time
she alleges she was discriminated against, aidibth women who wengregnant at the same
time . . . are still employed” by the Defendand. &t 6.) This suggestsahother pregnant women
without a disability were treated more favorabtypther words, she was discriminated against for
more than just her pregnancy. Furthermore, amnfiffs CHRO complaint, she details her requests
for light duty work, listed her restrictions whiéncluded “no bending difting,” and asked for

“accommodation” as a remedyld{* The allegations in her GRD complaint gave the CHRO

3 The Pregnancy Discrimination Act states tiiiatrimination “on the basis of sex” includes
discrimination “because of or on thasis of pregnancy, childbirth, mlated medical conditions

42 U.S.C. § 2000e(k) (emphasis added). While HEBkRdrome could be classified as a “related
medical condition” under the PDA, it could alsoadisability under the ADA. The Supreme Court
has held that “reproduction is a malibe activity for the puposes of the ADA."Bragdon v.

Abbott 524 U.S. 624, 639, 118 S. Ct. 2196, 2205, 141d_28 540 (1998). Given this precedent,
the fact that Plaintiff sufferelom HELLP Syndrome, which intezfed with her reproduction, gave
the CHRO adequate notice that she was allegjisyimination on the basis of her pregnancy and a
disability.

4 Defendant abandoned its argument from its firstitioto Dismiss that Plaintiff has not alleged
that she has a disability, because pregnancy isamstidered a disabilitynder the ADA. (ECF No.
23 at 10.) While the argument is abandonednitaias relevant to whieer Plaintiff’'s ADA claim

is “reasonably related” to herggnancy discrimination claim. it true that pregnancy is not
typically a disability within the meaning of the ADAeelaCoparra v. Pergament Home Centers,
Inc., 982 F. Supp. 213, 228 (S.D.N.Y. 199%janamaker v. Westport Bd. of Ed899 F. Supp. 2d
193, 210-11 (D. Conn. 2012). Despite that, counte aund that an ADA claim can arise from
“severe medical complicationsstdting from [a] pregnancy.Bateman v. Project Hosp., In@Q09

11



“adequate notice to investigadescrimination on both basesWilliams, 458 F.3d at 70. Especially
because the “reasonably relatedtdoe” is “essentially an allowance of loose pleading . . . based
on the recognition that EEOC charges frequentyfiled out by employees without the benefit of
counsel,” the Court finds &t Plaintiff's ADA claimwas properly exhaustedd.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated abatves Court DENIES Defendant’s motion to dismiss Counts One
and Two.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

s/
Michael P. Shea, U.S.D.J.

Dated: Hartford, Connecticut
February 7, 2017

WL 3232856, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2008iting Cerrato v. Durham941 F.Supp. 388, 392—
94 (S.D.N.Y.1996)Reilly v. Revlon620 F.Supp.2d 524, 546 (S.D.N.Y.2009)). Here, the SAC
states that “[ijn or around December 2011, ttaenpiff was diagnosed with HELLP Syndrome, a
life-threatening pregnancy conditi and disability that is permanent diagnosis (ECF No. 28 at

1 9 (emphasis added).)
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